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No. 10031

IN THE

^niteb States Circuit Court

of Appeals;

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

National Labor Relations Board,
Petitioner,

vs.

Weyerhaeuser Timber Company,
Clemons Branch,

Respondent.

UPON PETITION FOR ENFORCEMENT OF
AN ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABOR

RELATIONS BOARD

BRIEF OF WEYERHAEUSER TIMBER COMPANY,
CLEMONS BRANCH, RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For convenience, the National Labor Relations

Act, the National Labor Relations Board, and

Weyerhaeuser Timber Company, Clemons Branch,

will be herein referred to, respectively, as follows:

The National Labor Relations Act will be herein

referred to as the ''Act." The National Labor

Relations Board will be herein referred to as the

''Board." Weyerhaeuser Timber Company, Clemons

Branch, will be herein referred to as "Respondent."
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Respondent is engaged in the business of log-

ging in Grays Harbor County, Washington; and

on or about October 24, 1939, employed Seth Nord-

ling and Volney Burchett as timber fallers. These

employees were discharged by Respondent on or

about April 5, 1940; and thereafter a complaint

was filed by the Board alleging that said employees

were discharged for union activities, in violation

of Section 8 (3) of the Act, and that Respondent

had violated Section 8 (1) of the Act. A hearing

was held, and the Board made findings of fact

to the effect that Nordling and Burchett were dis-

charged for union activities, in violation of Section

8 (3) of the Act, and that Respondent had violated

Section 8 (1) of the Act.

Based on these findings, the Board made an

order (R. 79-80) requiring Respondent to cease

and desist from violations of the provisions of

Section 8 (1) or 8 (3) of the Act, post notices,

and offer to Nordling and Burchett immediate re-

instatement with back pay.

The case is before the court on petition of the

Board (R. 81-86) to enforce said order and oi^

counter-petition of Respondent (R. 90-95) to set

aside and vacate the same.



ARGUMENT FOR RESPONDENT

The questions involved in this case are: (1)

whether the Respondent is subject to the provisions

of the Act or to the jurisdiction of the Board; (2)

whether the Board's finding that Respondent vio-

lated Section 8 (1) of the Act is supported by

substantial evidence; and (3) whether the Board's

finding that Respondent discharged Seth Nordling

and Volney Burchett for union activities, in vio-

lation of Section 8 (3) of the Act, is supported

by substantial evidence.

1. Respondent is not subject to the Act or the

jurisdiction of the Board.

This proceeding does not involve Weyerhaeuser

Timber Company as a corporate entity. It involves

that company's demons Branch only. The entire

proceedings have been against the Clemons Branch

alone, and the order of the Board is directed not

to ''Weyerhaeuser Timber Company" but to ''Weyer-

haeuser Timber Company, Clemons Branch" (R.

79) ; and the Board's finding of fact numbered I

(R. 52) reads in part:

"The present case involves the logging opera-

tions with local headquarters at Melbourne,

Washington, known as Weyerhaeuser Timber

Company, Clemons Branch, and referred to

herein as the Clemons Branch."
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Weyerhaeuser Timber Company as a corporate

entity owns and operates manufacturing plants

at Everett and Longview, Washington, and Kla-

math Falls, Oregon, and the major portion of the

products produced thereat is sold and shipped in

interstate commerce (R. 125-129), but these plants

are wholly unrelated to the company's demons
Branch, the respondent herein, except for common
ownership and control.

The Clemons Branch is a separate unit, widely

separated geographically from any other operation

of the company, operated under separate manage-

ment, and, except for common ownership and

control, is unrelated to any other operation of the

company (R. 125-129; 210-211). We submit, there-

fore, that in determining whether Respondent is

subject to the Act or to the jurisdiction of the

Board, the Clemons Branch must be considered

alone, and that all other operations of Weyer-

haeuser Timber Company must be disregarded.

The Respondent (Clemons Branch of Weyer-

haeuser Timber Company) is engaged exclusively

in logging within the State of Washington, and

its entire output of logs is sold within that state.

It makes no sales or shipments whatever outside

the state.

The Board stresses the fact that Respondent

purchases some supplies, such as wire rope and

fuel oil, which are originally produced outside the
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state; but such purchases are made by Respondent

wholly within the State of Washington, and the

commodities purchased have come to rest within

that state and been commingled with the mass of

property therein prior to their purchase by Respon-

dent. The making of such purchases would not

tend to bring Respondent within the provisions of

the Act or subject to the jurisdiction of the Board.

Schechter Poultry Corporation v. United States,

295 U. S. 495 ; National Labor Relations Board v.

Jones & Laughlin Steel Corporation, 301 U. S. 1;

Santa Cruz Fruit Packing Co. v. National Labor

Relations Board, 303 U. S. 453.

Respondent is clearly not engaged in interstate

or foreign commerce nor in the production of goods

for such commerce. Its operations are local, and

its employees are engaged in producing goods for

intrastate commerce only.

Not being engaged in interstate or foreign com-

merce or in the production of goods therefor, it

follows that Respondent is not subject to the Act

or to the jurisdiction of the Board unless its opera-

tions are so closely related to interstate or foreig-n

commerce that the impact of a strike in its opera-

tions, if one should occur, would directly or imme-

diately burden or obstruct interstate or foreign

commerce.

Some of the logs produced by Respondent are

sold to manufacturers who process them into lum-
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ber and sell the manufactured product in interstate

commerce (R. 99-116), and the Board contends

that this fact renders Respondent subject to the

Act and brings it within the jurisdiction of the

Board, but we believe this contention is without

merit.

The testimony conclusively shows that none of

the mills who purchase logs from Respondent are

dependent on it for their operation. On the other

hand, the testimony is conclusive that the logs pur-

chased from Respondent by any of the purchasing

mills amount to but a small percentage of the logs

used by them in their manufacture. The testimony

wholly fails to establish that if Respondent ceased

operations for any cause, whether due to a strike

or otherwise, it would have any effect upon inter-

state commerce or the flow of goods in interstate

commerce. There is no proof that a shutdown of

Respondent's operation would have any appreci-

able effect upon any of the companies that purchase

logs from Respondent, or would cause any appre-

ciable cessation of the work of such companies or

the flow of interstate or foreign commerce by them,

or would result in putting even so much as one

of their employees out of employment or curtailing

their operations in any respect. In other words,

there is no proof whatever that a strike or labor

dispute at Respondent's plant or a cessation of

its operations would have any effect on interstate

commerce or would tend to burden or obstruct
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interstate commerce to any appreciable extent.

The law in that respect is correctly stated in

Clover Fork Coal Co. v. National Labor Relations

Board, 97 F. (2d) 331, as follows:

''It must, we think, be concluded that it is

the prevention of strikes, the impact of which

upon interstate commerce when and if they

occur will directly and immediately burden or

obstruct such commerce, that furnishes the

ground for the exercise of the Congressional

power. The immediacy and directness of the

effect of industrial strife upon interstate com-

merce is the test of jurisdiction, and unfair

labor practices fall within the scope of the Act

by reason of the fact that long and painful

experience teaches that in the generality of

cases, if not in particular instances, they lead

to such strife."

Tested by the above rule, it would seem that

the Board's jurisdiction is lacking in this case,

for there is no' proof that the impact of a strike

occurring in Respondent's operation would directly

or immediately burden or obstruct interstate com-

merce. It would seem, therefore, that the Board

is without jurisdiction in this case.

2. The Board's finding that Respondent vio-

lated Section 8 (1) of the Act is not supported

by substantial evidence.
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The finding of the Board that Respondent inter-

fered with, restrained, or coerced its employees in

the exercise of the rights guaranteed in Section 7

of the Act, in violation of Section 8 (1), is based

solely on the testimony of Hilding Lovin to the

effect that after he had succeeded Mr. Nordling

as shop steward, Olger Barman, head bull-buck,

said to him that "If he was me, he wouldn't stick

his neck out, because I might get it in the bite";

and "he wouldn't like to see me lose my job." (R.

197.)

The Board, as well as the trial examiner, con-

strued that statement as a warning to Lovin to

refrain from union activities, but if it was intended

to restrain Mr. Lovin from union activities, it

certainly did not have that effect. He apparently

continued his union activities, and he did not "get

it in the bite," and did not lose his job.

An examination of Lovin's testimony (R. 197-

202) conclusively shows that this statement by

Barman was simply a statement made by a minor

supervisory employee in casual conversation, with-

out the knowledge of the employer, and no one

paid any attention to it.

Such a statement, particularly where there is

no evidence that it had the slightest effect in pre-

venting or discouraging membership or activity

in the union, should not be imputed to the employer.
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We quote the following from Quaker State Oil

Refining Covporation v. National Labor Relations

Board, 119 F. (2d) 631, which is strikingly applic-

able to this case:

'The Board found the petitioner guilty of

two unfair labor practices. The first was that

two supervisory employees by their statements

to individual employees discouraged member-

ship in the Union. The supervisors in question

were Healy, the field or pipe line superinten-

dent, and McElhatten, the superintendent of

maintenance at the refinery. Healy asked one

employee what the employees figured could be

gained by membership in the Union and said

that it would be lots cheaper and the employees

just as far ahead, if they hired a local attorney

to represent them rather than putting out quite

a lot of money and not getting much in return

for it. He made similar remarks to another

employee and declared to a third who said he

hoped to gain seniority rights that there was

no such thing. To a fourth he said he did

not see how the Union could benefit the em-

ployees and that he believed the petitioner would

shut the plant down before giving recognition

to it. McElhatten stated to one employee with

reference to the welding of certain tubes that

prior to the Union that work would have been

done at the petitioner's shop but after the Union

they intended to send the work away. He
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also said that in future they would let out

to contractors what work they could. He made
a similar statement to another employee. * * *

"It is quite clear that all of these conversa-

tions took place casually in the course of con-

versations between the individuals concerned.

There is no evidence that they had the slightest

effect in actually preventing or discouraging

membership in the Union. The Board never-

theless found that the petitioner was respon-

sible for the statements made by Healy and

McElhatten and that thereby it interfered with,

restrained and coerced its employees in the

exercise of the rights of self-organization and

collective bargaining guaranteed them by Sec-

tion 7 of the National Labor Relations Act,

29 U.S.C.A. Sec. 157. We do not think that

this finding is supported by substantial evi-

dence. Isolated statements by minor super-

visory employees made casually in conversation

with fellow employees without the knowledge

of their employer and not in the course of their

duty or in the exercise of their delegated author-

ity over those employees ought not to be too

quickly imputed to their employer as its breach

of the law. * * * We conclude that the Board

erred in inferring that the petitioner was re-

sponsible for the statements of Healy and Mc-

Elhatten, and in finding that these statements

constituted an unfair labor practice on its part."
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The statement made by Mr. Barman was an

isolated statement by a minor supervisory employee

made casually in conversation with a fellow em-

ployee without the knowledge of his employer and

not in the course of his duty or in the exercise of

delegated authority over other employees, and

ought not to be imputed to his employer as its

breach of the law ; and as the finding of the Board

that Respondent violated Section 8 (1) of the

Act is based wholly on that statement, we submit

that such finding is not supported by substantial

evidence, and that the Board erred in inferring

that Respondent was responsible for the statement

and in finding that the statement constituted an

unfair labor practice on its part.

3. The Board's finding that Seth Nordling and

Volney Burchett were discharged by Respondent

for union activities, in violation of Section 8 (3)

of the Act, is not supported by substantial evidence.

Messrs. Nordling and Burchett were employed

in October, 1939, and worked until about April 4,

1940, when they were discharged. They worked

immediately under Mr. Barman, head bull-buck,

and whether through any fault of their own or

otherwise, their work was not satisfactory. Mr.

Barman warned them at different times as to the

character of their work, and particularly warned

them about their method of falling cedar timber

in December, 1939, and twice during January,
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1940; and either late in February or early in

March, 1940, it was reported to Mr. Barman that

they had fallen a tree in such a manner as to

endanger the life of a bucker, and that the bucker

had been so frightened that he dropped his tools

and ran out of the woods and refused to go back

to get his saw, and Mr. Burchett took the saw

into camp. Whether through fault of their own or

by accident, nevertheless they had destroyed a

cedar tree, known as tree No. 15, and another

tree, known as tree No. 31. (R. 228-233.) Mr.

Barman did not, however, discharge them for this,

and on the contrary interceded with Mr. Carl

Weiks, Jr., foreman of the cutting crews and Mr.

Barman's superior, to give them another chance;

and at the specific request of Mr. Barman, Mr.

Weiks did give them another chance, and did not

fire them on those occasions. (R. 300-301.)

The undisputed testimony is that Mr. Barman

and Messrs. Nordling and Burchett were friendly

and that he frequently walked home with them

from the woods and that they talked of general

matters, as parties will under such circumstances.

Mr. Barman also testified (and his testimony is

uncontradicted) that he was friendly with his men

in general and that he associated with them in

the bunkhouses and in the recreation hall and

played the same games with them and drank out

of the same bottle. (R. 243-244.)
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There is testimony to the effect that Mr. Bar-

man expressed a preference for Mr. Lovin over

Mr. Nordling for camp steward (which, of course,

was none of his business), and Mr. Lovin also

testified that Mr. Barman stated to him something

to the effect that while he himself had nothing

against Mr. Nordling he didn't like him for some

reason—that he had too big a vocabulary.

There is also testimony to the effect that Mr.

Barman had seen Board's ''Exhibit 4," and, there-

fore, knew that Mr. Nordling had helped prepare

it and that Mr. Burchett was helping to distribute

it; and there is testimony to the effect that after

new mattresses had been procured at Camp 3

Mr. Barman said that new dishes in the cook-

house were needed worse but to say nothing about

it as 'These fellows won't back you up," or some-

thing to that effect. It also appears that Mr.

Burchett was on a committee that asked to have

the excelsior mattresses replaced with cotton mat-

tresses, but the only representative of Respondent

he saw in that regard was Bob Ford, and it is

not claimed by anyone that Mr. Ford had anything

to do with the discharge.

The evidence is conclusive that Camp 3 is 100%
unionized, and has been right along; in fact, from

the testimony of Mr. Dyer it would appear that the

camp is virtually a closed shop, as he testified that

when a nonunion man is hired he either joins the

union or is "invited to leave camp." (R. 179.)
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Under these circumstances it would be rather

difficult to discharge any man for union activities

without discharging the whole crew.

Be that as it may, the record is clear and the

proof conclusive as to whyj Messrs. Nordling and

Burchett were discharged. They were discharged

for having stumped the tree which is referred to

in the record in several places as tree "X." They

had previously stumped other trees, and would

have been discharged previously had Mr. Barman

not interceded for them and asked that they be

given another chance. (R. 227-240; 244-267; 288-

310.)

While Mr. Barman knew that Mr. Nordling

was active in the union, and he also knew that

Mr. Burchett was active in a lesser degree, it was

not Mr. Barman who discharged these men. They

were discharged by Mr. Weiks, who did not know

that they were at all active in the union and did

not even know that they were members of the

union, excepting for his general understanding that

all of the employees were. (R. 293-299.)

Whether stumping tree "X" was a sufficient

reason for discharging the fallers is a question

with which the National Labor Relations Board

is not concerned and over which it has no juris-

diction. It is concerned only with whether or

not they were discharged for union activities.
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«* * * j^ -g unnecessary for an employer

to justify the discharge of an employee so long as

it is not for union activities. The presumption

is that the employer has not violated the lav^, and

the burden of proof is not upon the employer, but

upon the one who asserts the fact, to prove that

the discharge was because of union activities."

N.L.R.B. v. Union Mfg. Co., 124 F. (2d)

332.

In an attempt to create a possible inference

that union activities might have been the cause

of the discharge, the Board stresses the fact that

several other men had stumped trees at different

times and were not discharged, but that is fully

explained by the testimony of Mr. Weiks. (R. 299-

306.)

The testimony of Mr. Weiks shows that the

best of fallers will at times stump trees and whether

or not the penalty of discharge is imposed for

doing so depends upon such factors as their pre-

vious record, the damage done, and whether it

would or would not have been practical for them

to have saved the tree, and, bearing these things

in mind, the other fallers mentioned were not

discharged; but considering the past record of

Messrs. Nordling and Burchett, and particularly

considering their having endangered the life of

a bucker and having destroyed tree No. 15 after

it had been first safely fallen and then having
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destroyed tree No. 31 under circumstances where

it might have been saved, their stumping of tree

"X" was considered a sufficient reason for their

discharge. It is not necesary to say or even to

attempt to determine whether Nordling and Bur-

chett were wholly at fault in stumping tree "X,"

for even their own witnesses say that they were

at least partly at fault. A committee was appointed

to investigate the matter and report back to the

union as to whether Nordling and Burchett were

at fault; and concerning their report, Mr. Dyer

testified: ''Well, the committee reported to the

membership that the tree was stumped, but they

couldn't come to no conclusion that Nordling was

the whole fault of this tree being stumped." (R.

170.)

Mr. Carl Weeks was a member of the com-

mittee appointed by the union to go out and investi-

gate the tree, and he testified that the tree was
gunned, if not to fall on the stump at least too

close to the stump to be safe. (R. 202-204.)

I wish particularly to call attention to the tes-

timony of Mr. Millard Baldridge, who is an active

member of the union and a member of its shop

committee and who was present at the union meet-

ing when the committee to investigate this tree

was appointed and when the committee made its

report; and his uncontradicted testimony is that

each member of the committee reported that Nord-
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ling had gunned the tree for the stump, and that

the tree fell where it was gunned, and that this

report was unanimously accepted by the member-

ship. (R. 271.) Mr. Baldridge also testified that

later he was in a bunkhouse at Camp 3 and heard

Mr. Carl Weeks say that had he been in Nordling's

place he would not have had to be fired—he would

have picked up his tools then and there and left;

and this testimony was not contradicted by Mr.

Weeks or anybody else. (R. 273-274.)

Nordling and Burchett were discharged by

Mr. Carl E. Weiks, Jr., the cutting superinten-

dent. Mr. Barman had nothing to do with their

discharge. In fact, according to the testimony

of Mr. Nordling himself (R. 148), as well as that

of Mr. Barman, Mr. Barman said to Nordling and

Burchett that he himself would not discharge them,

but that he would have to report them. However,

he did not report them, as Mr. Weiks discovered

the tree himself before it was reported to him (R.

292), and Mr. Weiks then and there discharged

them, and gave them a separation report showing

why they were discharged. (R. 293; 296; 297;

Board's Ex. 6.) As already called attention to,

Mr. Weiks when he discharged these men did not

know that Mr. Nordling had been elected shop

steward, that he had never seen and did not know

of the existence of the pamphlet in evidence as

Board's ''Exhibit 4," which Mr. Nordling had help-

ed to prepare, and he knew nothing about either
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Mr. Nordling's or Mr. Burchett's having served

on any union committee or having taken any ac-

tive part in union affairs at all. In fact, he did

not know that they were union members, other

than that it was his understanding that all of the

employees were. (R. 297-299.)

Under such circumstances the Board's finding

that Mr. Weiks discharged these men for union

activities is little short of ridiculous, and the charge

that they were discharged for such reasons is not

supported by even a scintilla of evidence.

I say there is not a scintilla of evidence in this

case to support the charge of an unfair labor

practice; but even if there was a ^'scintilla," the

complaint should nevertheless have been dismissed,

for the ''scintilla" rule has been definitely rejected

by the courts.

To sustain a finding of unfair labor practice

under the Act, the evidence must be sufficient to

sustain the verdict of a jury in a civil action under

like circumstances.

''We agree that the statute, in providing

that 'the findings of the Board as to the facts,

if supported by evidence, shall be conclusive,'

means supported by substantial evidence. (Au-

thority.) Substantial evidence is more than

a mere scintilla. It means such relevant evi-

dence as a reasonable mind might accept as
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adequate to support a conclusion. (Authority.)

"* * * The statute provides that 'the rule

of evidence prevailing in courts of law or

equity shall not be controlling.' The obvious

purpose of this and similar provisions is to

free administrative boards from the compul-

sion of technical rules so that the mere admis-

sion of matter which would be deemed incom-

petent in judicial proceedings would not in-

validate the administrative order. (Authority.)

But this assurance of a desirable flexibility in

administrative procedure does not go so far

as to justify orders without a basis in evi-

dence having rational probative force. Mere

uncorroborated hearsay or rumor does not con-

stitute substantial evidence."

Consolidated Edison Co. v. N.L.R.B., 305

U. S. 197.

"Section 10(e) of the Act provides: '* * *

The findings of the Board as to the facts, if

supported by evidence, shall be conclusive.' But

as has often been pointed out, this, as in the

case of other findings by administrative bodies,

means evidence which is substantial, * * *.

Substantial evidence is more than a scintilla,

* * * and it must be enough to justify, if the

trial were to a jury, a refusal to direct a ver-

dict when the conclusion sought to be drawn
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from it is one of fact for the jury."

N.L.R.B. V. Columbian E. & S. Co., 306

U. S. 292.

''The scintilla rule has been definitely and

repeatedly rejected so far as the Federal Courts

are concerned."

Mooresville Cotton Mills v. N.L.R.B., 97 F.

(2d) 951.

''We are bound by the Board's findings of

fact as to matters within its jurisdiction, where

the findings are supported by substantial evi-

dence; but we are not bound by findings which

are not so supported. (Authority.) The rule

as to substantiality is not different, we think,

from that to be applied in reviewing the refusal

to direct a verdict at law, where the lack of

substantial evidence is the test of the right

to a directed verdict. In either case, substan-

tial evidence is evidence furnishing a substantial

basis of fact from which the fact in issue can

reasonably be inferred ; and the test is not satis-

fied by evidence which merely creates a suspicion

or which amounts to no more than a scintilla

or which gives equal support to inconsistent

inferences."

Appalachian Electric Power Co. v. N.L.R.B.,

93 F. (2d) 985, 989.
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''The Act does not interfere with the nor-

mal exercise of the right of the employer to

select its employees or to discharge them. The

employer may not, under cover of that right,

intimidate or coerce its employees with respect

to their self-organization and representation,

and, on the other hand, the Board is not en-

titled to make its authority a pretext for inter-

ference with the right of discharge when that

right is exercised for other reasons than such

intimidation and coercion."

N.L.R.B. V. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp.,

301 U. S. 1.

"The Act does not confer managerial powers

upon the Board, and it can only order reinstate-

ment when an employee is discharged for union

membership or activities, in order to encourage

or discourage membership in a labor organiza-

tion."

N.L.R.B. V. Clarksburg Pub. Co., 120 F.

(2d) 976.

"An employer may properly refuse to con-

tinue in his employ any person who had shown

himself to be * * * inefficient, negligent or

unfaithful to his employer's interest * * *. The

National Labor Relations Act does not abrogate

any of these prerogatives, nor can employees

use it as a shield for * * * inefficient service."
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N.L.R.B. V. Thompson Products, Inc., 97

F. (2d) 13.

"* * * A good rule for weighing the evi-

dence to ascertain whether it is adequate for

the purpose mentioned is to compare it with

the evidence necessary to sustain the verdict

of a jury upon a similar issue."

Jefferson Electric Co. v. N.L.R.B., 102 F.

(2d) 949.

The Board makes much ado of the fact that

Respondent does not have an inflexible rule to

discharge or penalize any and all fallers who

stump a tree, its contention amounting to the

argument that since other fallers have stumped

trees and not been discharged it follows that stump-

ing trees was not the cause of the discharge of

Nordling and Burchett.

Such argument falls of its own weight. Respon-

dent does not contend that the stumping of a tree

is in all cases ipso facto ground for discharge,

regardless of the circumstances.

The stumping of a tree is a serious matter. It

involves not only a monetary loss to the owner,

but an irretrievable destruction of raw material;

and where the stumping is the result of negligence,

it will not be tolerated. However, it cannot always

be avoided. It sometimes happens through no fault

of the faller, and in such case the faller is not
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penalized. The best and most careful faller will

sometimes have the misfortune to stump a tree,

just as the best and most careful automobile driver

will sometimes have an accident. But repeated

stumping of trees will call for the discharge of the

faller, and repeated automobile accidents may call

for the revocation of the driver's operating license.

The Board's theory that the stumping of the

tree (referred to as tree ''X" in the record) which

immediately occasioned the discharge of Nordling

and Burchett was their first experience of the kind

is equally untenable. They had not only previously

stumped and destroyed trees but had also on one

occasion so endangered the life of a fellow em-

ployee that he left the woods and refused to work

with them; and they would have been discharged

previously had not Mr. Barman (the man of whom
the Board makes so much comj)laint) requested

that they be given another chance. At Barman's

request, Mr. Weiks gave them another chance, and

they failed to make good.

The Board contends that Respondent wanted

the union to be inactive and was displeased at the

efforts of Nordling to ''revitalize" it. This conten-

tion is based wholly on conjecture and is not sup-

ported by a scintilla of evidence, and is refuted

by all of the facts and circumstances.

Nordling and Burchett were employed at Re-

spondent's Camp 3, which is 100% unionized, and
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there has never been a time that a decisive major-

ity of the employees have not been members of

the union. Respondent furnishes the union a

meeting place, with lights, heat, etc., free of charge,

and it is a fact well known to the Board that Re-

spondent has with the union a ''Union Mainten-

ance Agreement," whereby all employees who be-

come members of the union are required to main-

tain their membership in good standing as a condi-

tion of continued employment, and Respondent

recommends that new employees join the union

within forty days. Respondent could do nothing

more to encourage the maintenance of an active

union, unless it would be to make a ''closed shop"

agreement.

As to the Board's argument that Respondent

was displeased at Nordling's activity as shop

steward, it is worthy of note that no other shop

steward was ever discharged, and certainly others

have been as active as Nordling. According to the

testimony of Hilding Lovin, who succeeded Nord-

ling as shop steward, he was active in that office

and was not discharged, and Lovin was succeeded

by Kenneth Johnson, who, according to the uncon-

tradicted testimony of a member of the shop com-

mittee, is "more active than any shop steward that

has been there since I have worked there" (R.

286), and he has not been discharged.

The Board takes comfort from statements made
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at different times by Olger Barman, the bull-buck

immediately over the fallers, and it may be con-

ceded that Barman does seem to have too big a

vocabularly for his own good. However, these

statements were isolated statements by a minor

supervisory employee made casually in conversa-

tion with fellow employees without the knowledge

of his employer and not in the course of his duty

or in the exercise of his delegated authority over

those employees, and there is no evidence that they

had the slightest effect in preventing or discourag-

ing membership or activity in the union. Such

statements may not be imputed to the employer.

Quaker State Oil Refining Corporation v. N.L.R.B.,

supra, 119 F. (2d) 631.

The question before the court is : What was the

motivating cause for the discharge of Seth Nord-

ling and Volney Burchett? Were they discharged

for stumping a tree, or for union activities?

These men were discharged by Carl E. Weiks,

Jr., the superintendent of the cutting crews, and

he, being the discharger, of necessity knows the

reason for the discharge. It follows that the reason

for the discharge must be ascertained from his

testimony, if unimpeached.

''* * * our inquiry is centered upon the

motivating cause of the employer's action. * * *

Obviously our chief guide is the words of 'the

witness under oath who undertook to disclose
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the workings of his mind. If his explanation

is a reasonable one, the onus is upon the Board

to establish the falsity of this explanation and

the truth of its own explanation."

Martel Mills Corp. v. N.L.R.B., 114 F. (2d)

624.

"When honorable men, wholly unimpeached,

testify under oath to their reasons for discharg-

ing a man and such reasons are supported by

all the evidence in the case and are not in any

way connected with the discharged employee's

union activities, the Board is not justified in

discarding all of this evidence and finding the

employer guilty of an unfair labor practice

based upon a sequence of three or four unre-

lated events. * * *

"* * * The Board should not discard the

positive credible testimony of witnesses in favor

of an inference drawn from tenuous circum-

stances that at best could have supported only

an anemic suspicion."

N. L. R. B. V. Sheboygan Chair Co., 125 F.

(2d) 436.

"The principal question presented is whether

the evidence supports the findings of the Board

with respect to the motivating cause of peti-

tioner's refusal to reemploy certain former

employees. If the reason given by Boyd in
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his testimony under oath was a reasonable one,

the onus was upon the Board to establish the

falsity of his explanation and that the motivat-

ing reason was union affiliation.

''It was not sufficient for the Board to show

that employment may have been refused on

account of membership in Local 63 and Local

69 and of union activities. If the refusal to

reemploy may have been one of two things,

one illegal and the other legal, the fact-finding

tribunal may not guess or speculate as between

the two causes. There must be satisfactory

foundation in the evidence to support its con-

clusion. When the evidence is consistent with

either of two inconsistent hypotheses, it estab-

lishes neither."

Nevada Consol. Cop'per Corp. v. N.L.R.B.,

122 F. (2d) 587.

"Orders for reinstatement of employees with

back pay * * * may impoverish or break an

employer, and * * *, they are in the nature

of penalties for the infraction of law. The

evidence to justify them ought therefore to be

substantial, and surmise or suspicion, even

though reasonable, is not enough. * * * So far

as the National Labor Relations Act, * * *,

goes, the employer may discharge, or refuse to

to reemploy for any reason, just or unjust,

except discrimination because of union activities
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and relationships. In the matters now con-

cerning us, the controlling and ultimate fact

question is the true reason which governed

the very person who discharged or refused to

reemploy in each instance. * * * But it remains

true that the discharger knows the real cause

of discharge, it is a fact to which he may
swear. If he says it was not union member-

ship or activity, but something else which in

fact existed as a ground, his oath cannot be

disregarded because of suspicion that he may
be lying. There must be impeachment of him,

or substantial contradiction, or if circumstances

raise doubts, they must be inconsistent with

the positive sworn evidence on the exact point.*'

N.L.R.B. V. Tex-0-Kan Flour Mills Co., 122

F. (2d) 433.

The positive testimony of Mr. Weiks as to the

discharge of Nordling and Burchett, and the rea-

son therefor, is: That he found out that the tree

referred to as "X" had been stumped about ten

o'clock in the forenoon. He discovered the fact

that the tree had been stumped himself; no one

had apprised him of the fact. (R. 292.) When he

saw that the tree had been stumped, he walked

over to Nordling and Burchett and said: ''I see,

boys, you have stumped another tree, so stack your

tools up here at the tree that you are working

on. That will be all." (R. 293.) That he dis-

charged Nordling and Burchett for the reason:
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"Well, the reason is on account of the unnecessary

breakage in Tree No. 15, and also Tree No. 31,

and "X" tree. This "X" tree should never have

been put where it was put. It should have been

put to the left of those stumps, or to the right

of those stumps, where there was a good lay. Mr.

Nordling was taking too many chances to put

that tree where he put it." (R. 297.) He had no

knowledge of Nordling's union activities, and didn't

even know that he was a member of the union,

other than that he understood all of the employees

were. (R. 297.)

The above is the explanation, under oath, given

by Mr. Weiks as to his reason for the discharge

of Nordling and Burchett. He discharged them

for stumping a tree. That they did stump the tree

is not only clearly proven but is freely admitted;

hence, there is no question but that the cause ex-

isted for which Mr. Weiks testified that the em-

ployees were discharged.

In a nutshell the facts are : Nordling and Bur-

chett were active in the union. They did stump

the tree in question, and they were discharged.

They were discharged by Mr. Weiks, and he of

necessity knows the reason therefor. He testified

that the reason was the stumping of a tree and

their former record in unnecessarily breaking

other trees. His testimony must be accepted if

unimpeached.
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Was the testimony of Mr. Weiks impeached?

We believe not. The Board contends that it is im-

peached by the following incident:

Tree ''X" was stumped on April 4th, and Bar-

man was apprised of the fact on that date. He
told Nordling and Burchett that he himself would

not discharge them but that he would have to

report the matter to Weiks. He made known to

them that he felt certain Weiks would discharge

them, and suggested that they had better quit

voluntarily.

Barman's assumption that they would be dis-

charged was a most natural one. Their previous

record was unsatisfactory. They had not only

stumped and broken two other trees but had so

fallen another tree as to scare a fellow workman

off the job. Weiks had intended to discharge them

before, and had refrained from doing so only

because Barman interceded for them and asked

that they be given another chance. Having pre-

vented their discharge on a former occasion by

requesting that they be given another chance. Bar-

man naturally assumed that he could not success-

fully intercede in their behalf again, and that the

stumping of tree "X," with their previous record of

breakage, would unquestionably mean their dis-

charge.

In the evening of April 4th Barman called

Weiks by phone, and was advised that the latter
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would be at Camp 3 the following day. Barman

testified that he did not mention the stumping of

tree ^'X" in this telephone conversation; that he

intended to report it to Weiks when he saw him

personally the next day, but didn't have a chance

to, as Weiks discovered it himself before meeting

with Barman.

Weiks also testified that the stumping of tree

"X" was not reported to him by Barman or any-

one else; that he discovered it himself. (R. 292.)

The Board chose to disbelieve the testimony

of both Weiks and Barman to the effect that the

latter did not report the stumping of the tree to

Weiks by telephone in the evening of April 4th,

basing such disbelief on the fact that Barman in-

timated to Hilding Lovin the next morning that

Nordling would be discharged and would not be

returning to camp for work the next week.

The discharge occurred on Friday, April 5th,

and Lovin testified that early that forenoon he

told Barman that he was going to Portland over

the week end and expected to ride back with Nord-

ling, and Barman said ''that he didn't think that I

would have a ride back." (R. 196.)

The Board contends that this incident shows

that Barman knew, in the morning of April 5th,

before he had met Weiks, that Nordling and Bur-

chett would be discharged, and that he must have
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been told so by Weiks in their telephone conversa-

tion the previous evening; hence, that Weiks was
falsifying when he testified that the stumping of

tree ''X" was not mentioned in the phone conver-

sation, and that the Board was, therefore, justi-

fied in rejecting his entire testimony.

Such contention is unjustified and untenable.

Barman's remark to Lovin to the effect that he

didn't think Nordling would be coming back is in

line with what he had told Nordling and Burchett

themselves the day before.

When tree ''X" was stumped, Barman told

Nordling and Burchett that he would have to re-

port them to Weiks, who unquestionably would dis-

charge them, and even went so far as to suggest

that they had better quit voluntarily, and he was

still of the same opinion when he talked with Lovin

the next morning. He had not yet seen Weiks,

but when he did see him he intended to report the

stumping of tree ''X"; and, as he had told Nord-

ling and Burchett themselves, he felt sure that

they would be discharged, and he quite naturally

advised Lovin not to depend on riding back to

camp with Nordling.

This incident is not inconsistent in any respect

with the positive testimony of both Barman and

Weiks that the stumping of tree ''X" was not

mentioned in their telephone conversation of April

4th, and the Board's seizure thereof as an excuse
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for rejecting the testimony of Weiks is illustrative

of the bias of the Board and its determination to

find Respondent guilty of an unfair labor practice

regardless of the evidence.

It remains true that Mr. Weiks, the discharger,

knows the real cause of the discharge, and he has

testified that it was not union membership or ac-

tivity but something else which in fact existed as

a ground; and, as said in N.L.R.B, v. Tex-0-Kan

Flour Mills Co., supra, 122 F. (2d) 433, "his oath

cannot be disregarded because of suspicion that he

may be lying. There must be impeachment of him,

or substantial contradiction, or if circumstances

raise doubts, they must be inconsistent with the

positive sworn evidence on the exact point."

In this case there is neither impeachment of

Mr. Weiks nor contradiction of his testimony, and

there are no proven circumstances inconsistent

with his positive sworn testimony.

We submit that the finding of the Board that

Respondent was guilty of an unfair labor practice

is not supported by any substantial evidence, but

is based wholly upon conjecture, surmise, and

suspicion, and was arrived at by the simple ex-

pedient of electing to disbelieve the testimony of

Mr. Weiks, though unimpeached.
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CONCLUSION

Before this court the Board is only a litigant,

and may not assume, but must establish, its right

to the relief for which it prays.

''This is a special statutory proceeding, not

known to the common law, and governed and

controlled by the statute. * * * in order to

effectuate its ends and at the same time to

afford due process, the statute confers upon

the Board the power to hear, to find and to

order, but only court approval and action can

make that power effective, for before this court

the Board is after all and only a litigant, and

as a suitor litigant, it may not assume, it must

establish, its right to the relief for which it

prays. * * *

"* * * the functions of courts in the opera-

tion of the act is by no means perfunctory.

Upon them rests the final judicial responsi-

bility; from them emanates the sole authority

for making the Board's orders coercively effec-

tive. * * *

''Nothing in the statute, nothing in any

of the decisions lends countenance to the view

that Congress intended to make of the Circuit

Courts of Appeals mere rubber stamps, mere

perfunctory executors of the Board's unre-

strained will. They make the contrary quite
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clear. It is, therefore, for this court, in the

performance of its function under the statute,

to say not blindly but in the exercise of an in-

formed discretion, first, whether the findings

are supported by the evidence, and, second,

whether the Board's orders are appropriate

under the statute."

N.L.R.B. V. Ford Motor Co., 119 F. (2d)

326.

We respectfully submit that, in this case, the

findings of the Board are not supported by any

substantial evidence, but are based entirely on

conjecture, surmise, and suspicion, and that the

Board's petition for the enforcement of its order

should be denied, and that said order should be set

aside, vacated, and held for naught.

Respectfully submitted,

W. E. Heidinger,

802-7 Tacoma Building,

Tacoma, Washington.

Attorney for Respondent.


